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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

l Case No. CV 03·7023 GAF (JTLx) 

12 Plaintiff, ) 

13 v. 

14 UNIVERSAL PICTURES, et aI., 

15 Defendants. 

16 

17 

18 

19 

l MEMORANDUM AND ORDER 
REGARDING DEFENDANTS' MOTION 
TO DISMISS PLAINTIFF·IN· 
INTERVENTION'S COMPLAINT l 

l 
) rHIS CONS mUTES NOTICE OF ENTRY l AS REQUIRED BY FRCP, RULE 77(d). 
) 
) 

20 I. 

21 INTRODUCTION 

22 On September 30, 2003, the United States Equal Employment Opportunity 

23 Commission ("EEOC") filed an action against Defendants Universal Pictures and its 

24 parent companies, Universal Studios, LLLP, and Vivendi Universal Entertainment, 

25 LLLP, ("Defendants" or "Universal"), alleging that Frank Davis ("Davis" or "Plaintiff') 

26 was discriminated against on the basis of race when he was not hired as a First 

27 Assistant Director ("FAD") by Defendants for a motion picture. 

28 
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Davis intervened in this lawsuit on March 29, 2005. On July 11, 2005, Davis· 
u; 

filed a First Amended Complaint in Intervention ("FACI") which alleges: (1) breach otz 
.( 

written employment contract; (2) fraud; (3) employment discrimination based on rac~;: : 

in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1981; and (4) violation of California Business and 

Professions Code §§ 17200, et seq. 

Defendants now move to dismiss Plaintiffs first, second, and fourth causes of 

action. The Court finds the motion well-taken. Under the facts alleged in the FACI, 

Davis cannot pursue a breach of contract claim that asserts a breach of the CBA, he 

has failed to exhaust his administrative remedies under the CBA, and the claims that 

purportedly arise under state law are preempted by the Labor Management Relations 

Act ("LMRA"). Likewise, Davis cannot generally aver fraud by unnamed corporate 

officers or employees and survive a motion under Rule 9(b). That rule requires that 

fraud allegations be set forth with specificity, and cases interpreting the rule hold that 

the identity of the speaker, the content of the fraudulent statements, and the facts 

establishing that they were false must be pled in detail. 

For these reasons, which are discussed in greater detail below, the motion to 

dismiss is GRANTED. 

II. 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

A. DAVIS'S EMPLOYMENT 

Defendants hired Davis, an African-American male, to work as Director John 

Singleton's FAD on the film, Fast and Furious 2. (FACI ~ 12). Davis alleges that 

Defendants never wanted to hire him because of his race, (FACI ~ 14), and only did 

so because: (1) Singleton requested that Davis serve as FAD; and (2) Defendants 

wanted Singleton's prestigious name associated with the film. (FACI ~ 15).' Given 

'Before hiring Davis, Defendants first hired Michael Waxman as FAD, but he was soon demoted 
to FAD of the second unit when Singleton objected. (FACI 11 16). Defendants then sought Bruce 
Franklin to serve as FAD, but again Singleton objected because he preferred Davis. (FACllIlI 

(continued ... ) 
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the circumstances surrounding his hiring, Davis alleges that Defendants intended from 
L .... I 

the outset to undermine his job performance and had even negotiated with Davis's;~ . 
",1. 
; 

replacemeht before Davis was hired, (FAGI ~ 17-18), Davis alleges that Defendant's. 

carried out their plan by terminating him without cause on October 6, 2002, without 

the consent or approval of Singleton. (FAGI ~ 20). 

Davis alleges that he was hired under a written employment agreement, which 

he contends is evidenced by a variety of materials and statements including letters, 

memoranda, and the Directors Guild of America ("DGA") Gollective Bargaining 

Agreement ("GBA"). (FAGI ~~ 26-28). Under those materials, according to Davis, 

only Singleton could terminate his employment. (FAGI ~ 21 ).2 Davis alleges that, 

while Defendants claimed inadequate performance as the basis for his termination, he 

never received complaints from Singleton prior to his termination by Defendants. 

(FAGI ~ 22). Davis contends, on information and belief, that Singleton was satisfied 

with his work, and that Singleton has stated that Davis's termination was unjust and 

without cause. (FAGI ~ 23-24). 

B. THE EMPLOYMENT CONTRACT 

The FAGI asserts that, throughout Plaintiffs employment with Defendants, 

there existed a written employment contract between Plaintiff and Defendants. (FAGI 

~ 26). Plaintiff avers that the entire employment agreement, only part of which was 

\ .. continued) 
15-16). 

2Although the Court is ordinarily limited to the allegations in the complaint in determining a 
motion to dismiss, certain exceptions exist for matters that are not reasonably in dispute. 
Documents that are appended to and incorporated into a complaint may be considered in ruling 
on a 12(b)(6) motion. Inlandboatmens Union of the Pac. v. Dutra Group, 279 F.3d 1075, 1083 
(9th Cir. 2002); Branch v. Tunnell, 14 F.3d 449, 453·54 (9th Cir.), cert. denied, 512 U.S. 1219 
(1994). Similarly, other matters that are properly subject to judicial notice may be considered 
along with the complaint when deciding a motion under Rule 12(b)(6). See MGIC Indem. Corp. 
v. Weisman, 803 F.2d 500, 504 (9th Cir. 1986). Thus, this Court hereby takes judicial notice of 
the DGA 2002 Basic Agreement (the CBA) and the Deal Memo. (Defs. Request for Judicial 
Notice, Exs. A [Deal Memo], B [2002 Basic Agreement]). 

3 
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written, contained the following terms and conditions: (1) an established policy (of 

which Universal was aware) within the DGA and Universal that an employee who 
c·r 

performed in good faith would have secure employment; (2) a policy that an employe~~ • 

would not be discharged unless for good and sufficient cause; and (3) a policy that ' 

two days notice would be provided if it was necessary to replace an employee. (FAGI 

1127). 

The "total employment agreement" was allegedly evidenced by various 

documents including letters, memoranda, oral representations to Plaintiff, and the 

parties' course of conduct, including the DGA GBA, Defendants' written personnel 

policies and discipline procedures, and statements to Plaintiff by Director Singleton 

that he was doing a "superior jOb." (FAGI1l28). The relationship between the parties 

was also the subject of a Deal Memo between Davis and 2F2F Productions. (Defs. 

Request for Judicial Notice, Ex. A [Deal Memo]). Notably, the first paragraph of the 

Deal Memo states: 

All provisions of this deal memo, and all services rendered hereunder are 

subject to the applicable collective bargaining agreement(s), if any. 

(Id. 111). 

In pertinent part, the GBA, a document several hundred pages long, provides 

that "[t]he Guild is recognized by the Employer as the sole collective bargaining agent 

for all Directors ... and Assistant Directors in the motion picture industry. (Defs. 

Request for Judicial Notice, Ex. B [2002 Basic Agreement] at p. B 18 [§ 1-101]). In 

addition, it states that "[t)he Director shall have the right ... to select the FAD .... " It 

goes on to say: "[t)he Director may replace the FAD provided that such action does 

not adversely affect the budget of the motion picture. The Employer shall have the 

right for just cause to discharge a FAD." (l!;l at p. B 42 [§ 7-204]). 

Davis alleges that, on the basis of the materials that he contends establish his 

contractual rights, he reasonably expected job security and continuous employment 

4 
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with Defendants, and that he refrained from seeking other employment and pursuing: 
LJ 
;~ 

other career opportunities. (FACI1129-30). 

C. DAVIS'S CAUSE OF ACTION FOR BREACH OF CONTRACT 

Davis claims Defendants breached his employment contract by: (1) engaging 

in conduct with the intent and effect of unreasonably burdening Davis's work 

environment, thereby impeding the performance of his job duties; (2) terminating 

Davis without cause and in violation of Defendants' personnel policies related to 

discipline, communication, and termination; (3) wrongfully terminating Plaintiff in spite 

of his satisfactory performance; and (4) subjecting Davis to different standards than 

other employees. (FACI1133). As a result of Defendants' alleged breach, Davis 

seeks damages from lost earnings and other employment benefits in excess of 

$1,000,000,000. (FACI1134). 

D. DEFENDANTS' ALLEGED FRAUDULENT MISREPRESENTATIONS TO PLAINTIFF 

Plaintiff alleges that Defendants made "certain" misrepresentations of material 

fact to him, including that: (1) Plaintiff would be hired as Singleton's FAD on the film 

Fast and Furious 2; (2) Defendants represented to Plaintiff that he would complete the 

film and receive payment under the written contract; and (3) Plaintiff could only be 

terminated by the Director, Singleton. (FACI1138). Plaintiff alleges that "defendants 

never intended to perform the promises and harbored a secret intent and desire to 

deprive [Davis] of the terms under the agreement." (FACI1139). 

E. DEFENDANTS' UNFAIR, UNLAWFUL, OR FRAUDULENT CONDUCT UNDER SECTION 17200 

Plaintiff alleges that Defendants wrongfully received gains and benefits from 

members of the general public, including Plaintiff, as a direct and proximate result of 

Defendants' aforementioned acts. (FACI1156). Plaintiff seeks an order requiring 

Defendants to restore to him all funds acquired by Defendants by means of any acts 

or practices determined by this Court to be unlawful, unfair, or fraudulent under 

Business & Professions Code §§ 17200, et seq. (FACI1156). 

5 
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III. 

DISCUSSION 

A. THE LEGAL STANDARD FOR A MOTION TO DISMISS I" . , 

A motion to dismiss a complaint tests the legal sufficiency of the claims 

asserted, Fed, R Civ, p, 12(b)(6), A court may not dismiss a complaint for failure to 

state a claim "unless it appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff can prove no set of 

facts in support of his claim which would entitle him to relief." Conley v, Gibson, 355 

U,S, 41, 45-46 (1957), Thus, dismissal pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) is proper only where 

there is either a "lack of a cognizable legal theory" or "the absence of sufficient facts 

alleged under a cognizable legal theory," Balistreri v, Pacifica Police Dep't, 901 F,2d 

696,699 (9th Cir, 1988), The Court accepts all factual allegations pleaded in the 

complaint as true in deciding a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim; in 

addition, it construes those facts and draws all reasonable inferences from them in 

favor of the nonmoving party, Cahill v, Liberty Mut Ins, Co" 80 F,3d 336, 337-38 (9th 

Cir, 1996), 

B. DAVIS'S BREACH OF CONTRACT CLAIM 

Defendants allege that Davis's contract claim should be dismissed because: 

(1) Davis does not plead the elements of a private cause of action for breach of a 

CBA,3 and even if he does, Davis fails to bring the claim against any party to his 

employment relationship; (2) the terms of Davis's agreement were set by the CBA and 

Deal Memo, and any inconsistent policies or statements, oral or written, are 

preempted; and (3) even if state law applies in this context, Davis fails to allege 

sufficient facts to overcome California's presumption of "at will" employment. The 

3The CSA controls here, The parties do not dispute that Davis's employment agreement was 
evidenced, in part, by the CSA, (FACI 1m 28, 28(a)), The agreement is recognized by the 
employer as the sole collective bargaining agreement for all Assistant Directors in the motion 
picture industry, (Defs, Request for Judicial Notice, Ex, B [2002 Basic Agreement] at p, B 42 [§ 
1-101 ]), 

6 
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2 

Court need not address each of these arguments since Davis has not exhausted his: , , . LJ i 

administrative remedies and the breach of contract is preempted by the LMRA. 

3 1. Davis Failed to Plead Sufficient Facts to Support a Private Claim v, 

4 Against Universal for Breach of the CBA 

5 a. Failure to Allege Exhaustion 

6 Defendants assert that absent the inapplicable exceptions outlined below, 

7 Davis's exclusive remedy is arbitration, as the CBA provides. The Court agrees. 

8 Davis may not obtain a judicial determination of his breach of contract claim since he 

9 failed even to allege that he first sought to exhaust his relief options through the 

10 contractual remedial procedures. 

11 As a general rule, a wrongfully discharged employee may not resort to the 

12 courts before fully exhausting the grievance procedures in the applicable contract. 

13 Vaca v. Sipes, 386 U.S. 171, 184 (1967). If the claim is based on breach of the CBA, 

14 the employee is bound by its terms,4 including the manner in which contractual rights 

15 may be enforced. !.Q., Thus, generally, an employee must first attempt to exhaust 

16 grievance and arbitration procedures established by the CBA before seeking review in 

17 the courts. !.Q., at 186. 

18 There are three narrow exceptions to this rule. An employee is not limited to 

19 the exclusive remedial procedures established by the contract if: (1) the conduct of the 

20 employer amounts to a repudiation of the contractual procedures; (2) the union has 

21 the sole power under the contract to invoke the grievance procedure, and the 

22 employee has been prevented from exhausting his contractual remedies by the 

23 union's wrongful refusal to process the grievance; or (3) proceeding formally with the 

24 contractual remedy would be futile. !.Q., at 185; Glover v. St. Louis-San Francisco Ry. 

25 Co., 393 U.S. 324, 330 (1969). 

26 

27 

28 4The terms of this CBA clearly state that arbitration shall be the employee's sole remedy. (Oefs. 
Request for Judicial Notice, Ex. B [2002 Basic Agreement] at p. B 30 [§ 2-601)). 

7 
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1 Plaintiffs FACI fails to plead any facts that suggest he falls into one ofthesec. 
I . 
"- I 

2 exceptions. or that he has sought or exhausted arbitration as mandated by the CSA.~~ 
« 

3 For instance, Plaintiff does not allege that the union refused to file an arbitration claiq, : 

4 on his behalt,5 Thus, because Plaintiff does not even allege that he satisfies one of 

5 these exceptions, Defendants' motion to dismiss Plaintiffs claim for breach of the CSA 

6 for failure to state a claim is hereby GRANTED.6 

7 b. Davis's Breach of Contract Claim is Preempted by Federal Labor 

8 Law Since Davis Does Not Allege that he Followed Proper 

9 Amendment Procedures 

10 Defendants also argue that the CSA governs the employee-employer 

11 relationship and that the terms of that agreement cannot be altered by issuing policies 

12 or making statements outside the four corners of the CSA. The Court agrees, and to 

13 the extent Plaintiff relies on such extraneous statements, Plaintiffs claim for breach of 

14 contract is hereby DISMISSED on this ground as well. 

15 Lerwill v. Inflight Servs. Inc., 379 F. Supp. 690 (N.D. Cal. 1974), involved an 

16 action by employees to enforce the overtime provision of a collective bargaining 

17 agreement. Plaintiffs sought to recover overtime pay for work performed under the 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

5Plaintiff believes he can cure the defect in an amended complaint and demonstrate "that he had 
the right to bring a breach of contract claim against Defendants." (Opp. at 5). Defendants claim 
that based on initial discovery in the underlying EEOC v. Universal Pictures complaint, no claim 
for breach of contract exists. While the Court is deeply skeptical that Plaintiff can show that 
any exception applies in this case, the Court cannot consider Defendants' argument, as it 
cites no authority and is essentially asking the Court to look beyond the face of the FACI to 
consider the merits of the claim. See Thompson v. Davis, 295 F.3d 890, 896 (9th Cir. 2002) 
(Courts are generally confined to the pleadings when considering a motion to dismiss). Plaintiff 
should read and understand the requirements of Rule 11 before filing a second amended 
complaint. 

6Defendants argue that Plaintiff has not named the proper parties by bringing claims against 
Universal Pictures, LLLP, and Vivendi Universal Entertainment, LLLP, while the parties to the 
Deal Memo are only Plaintiff and 2F2F Productions. Further, Davis does not set forth any facts 
that suggest he has a contractual relationship with Universal Pictures, LLLP, or Vivendi 
Universal Entertainment, LLLP, the named Defendants. (Mot. at 3, 8). Thus, if Plaintiff chooses 
to amend his FACI, he should set forth the specific circumstances that give rise to his purported 
contractual relationship with the Defendants. 

8 
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CSA, while defendants asserted that any claim for overtime under the CSA was c: I L', 
'"~ \ 

waived "informally and by practice." Lerwill, 379 F. Supp. at 692. The Lerwill Court~.· 
<.1. 
f • 

focused on Congress's intent under the National Labor Relations Act, and held thaE~ : 

plaintiffs were entitled to overtime pay consistent with the CSA.7 The court noted: 

Congress has placed at the core of our national labor policy the 

principle that employers and unions negotiate collective bargaining 

agreements and perform consistently with them, Recognizing that 

strict adherence to this principle may at times impose hardships 

upon labor or management, Congress has sought to provide for 

these situations while preserving the basic principle by providing for 

modification of collective bargaining agreements before their 

natural terminations so long as orderly procedures involving notice 

and negotiation are followed. 29 U.S.C, § 158(d), Tolerating 

modifications through informal agreement or unspoken 

acquiescence . .. creates the danger of substituting for 

collective bargaining a system of subtle suggestions, coercion 

or intimidation. This is not what Congress has mandated, and this 

Court may not formulate and apply a rule which would so interpret 

the National Labor Relations Act. 

ld.,. at 692 (emphasis added), 

Here, given the existence of a binding CSA, which states that arbitration shall be 

the exclusive remedy, (Oefs. Request for Judicial Notice, Ex. B [2002 Basic Agreement] 

at p, B 30 [§ 2-601]), Plaintiff's argument that vague representations and policies 

purportedly made by his employer or agents thereof should encompass some sort of 

"total agreement" must fail. Indeed, Davis does not even allege that the purported 

7Plaintiff does not respond to this argument in his Opposition, Rather, Plaintiff simply asserts 
that Universal had policies in place and made representations that provide him with a cause of 
action, 

9 
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1 changes to the employment agreement were accomplished through the orderly 

2 procedures involving notice and negotiation contemplated by the LMRA. 
,f, 

3 Thus, to the extent Davis relies on statements and policies outside of the'writt\;p 

4 agreement without alleging that his employment agreement was properly modified, 

5 Defendants' motion to dismiss Plaintiffs breach of contract claim is GRANTED on this 

6 basis, as well. 

7 C. DAVIS'S FRAUD CLAIM 

8 Defendants also move to dismiss Plaintiffs fraud claim, asserting that Davis has 

9 not plead the elements with particularity. The Court agrees. 

10 1. The Legal Standard 

11 Under California law, the elements of a fraud claim include: (1) a false 

12 representation; (2) knowledge of its falsity; (3) intent to defraud; (4) justifiable reliance; 

13 and (5) damages. Moore v. Brewster, 96 F.3d 1240, 1245 (9th Cir. 1996). When 

14 pleading fraud, a plaintiff must satisfy the demands of FRCP 9(b), which mandates that 

15 in "all averments of fraud ... , the circumstances constituting fraud ... shall be stated 

16 with particularity." Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b). Thus, the rule requires particularized allegations 

17 of the circumstances constituting fraud. Courts have explained this rule to require that 

18 claims of fraud include the "who, what, when, where, and how" of the alleged 

19 misconduct. Cooper v. Pickett, 137 F.3d 616, 627 (9th Cir. 1997); see also Lazar v. 

20 Superior Court (Rykoff-Sexton, Inc.), 12 Cal. 4th 631,645 (1996). In other words, a 

21 plaintiff seeking to plead fraud must plead "[t]he time, place, and content of an alleged 

22 misrepresentation ... [and] an explanation as to why the statement or omission 

23 complained of was false or misleading." In re GlenFed. Inc. Sec. Litig., 42 F.3d 1541, 

24 1547 n.7 (9th Cir. 1994). 

25 Fraud claims should be specific enough to give defendants notice of the 

26 particular misconduct complained of s~ that they can defend against the charge. Vess v. 

27 Ciba-Geigy Corp. USA, 317 F.3d 1097, 1108 (9th Cir. 2003). While conclusory 

28 allegations that the defendants' conduct was fraudulent are plainly insufficient, "Rule 9(b) 

10 
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1 ... only requires the identification of the circumstances constituting fraud so that the ,:~ 
L}' , 

2 defendant can prepare an adequate answer from the allegations." Walling v, Beverly'~ 
,( 

3 Enters., 476 F.2d 393, 397 (9th Gir. 1973); Moore v. Kayport Package Exp .. Inc., 88~;; 

4 F.2d 531, 540 (9th Gir. 1989). 

5 2. Analysis 

6 Defendants argue that Davis's pleadings do not satisfy the particularity 

7 requirement because: (1) Davis did not attribute the alleged misrepresentations to 

8 specific actors or supply the "who and the when;" and (2) even if the statements were 

9 linked to who said them and when, the alleged statements are too vague and ambiguous 

10 to satisfy the pleading requirements. (Mot. at 10-12). Again, the Gourt agrees. 

11 Plaintiff's allegations of fraud in the FAGI are vague and ambiguous, simply 

12 alleging that "[d]efendants made certain representations of material facts" to Davis. 

13 (FAGI ~ 38). Davis alleges the purported misrepresentations were made by one of a 

14 number of individuals, but does not specifically attribute any particular statement to any 

15 particular individual, describe where or when any of these statements were made, 

16 explain why each person had the authority to make the statement, or aver why or how 

17 Davis justifiably relied. This lack of specificity does not give Defendants an adequate 

18 opportunity to meaningfully respond to Plaintiff's FAGI. Several examples demonstrate 

19 the problem with the fraud claim. 

20 First, Davis claims he was assured that he would be hired as Director Singleton's 

21 FAD on the film Fast and Furious 2. This assurance is not a misrepresentation because 

22 Davis was in fact hired to work on the film. Additionally, Davis does not set forth the 

23 circumstances in which the alleged assurance was made. Thus, this statement is neither 

24 a misrepresentation nor is it pleaded with sufficient particularity. 

25 Second, Defendants allegedly represented to Davis that he would complete the 

26 film and receive payment under the written contract. Although Davis's pleading states 

27 the material points of this claim, and no proof is necessary at this stage in the 

28 proceeding, Plaintiff nonetheless fails to attribute any of the statements to particular 

11 
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individuals. In addition, Davis does not allege when or where each conversation or c:: , 
L} t 

assurance took place, or anything related to it. Thus, Davis has failed to plead this ~t 
'It.l 

alleged misrepresentation with particularity. '. 

Third, Davis claims unspecified Defendants represented that he could only be 

terminated by Director Singleton. This alleged misrepresentation also fails the 

particularity test for the same reasons as Davis's second alleged misrepresentation,s 

In sum, Plaintiff has not pleaded fraud with sufficient particularity with respect to 

any of these three assertions because Defendants do not provide specific factual 

allegations - the who, what, when, where, and how - to properly respond to Plaintiffs 

allegations. 

D. DAVIS'S STATE LAW CLAIM UNDER CALIFORNIA BUSINESS AND PROFESSIONS CODE §§ 

17200. ET SEQ. IS PREEMPTED BY FEDERAL LAW 

Resolution of Plaintiffs 17200 ("Section 17200" or "17200") unfair competition 

claim inevitably requires interpreting the CBA, and it is therefore preempted by federal 

labor law. "[AJ suit in state court alleging a violation of a provision of a labor contract 

must be brought under § 301 and be resolved by reference to federal law. A state 

rule that purports to define the meaning or scope of a term in a contract suit 

therefore is pre-empted by federal labor law." Allis-Chalmers Corp. v. Lueck, 471 U.S. 

202, 215 (1985) (emphases added) (internal citations omitted) (holding that a Wisconsin 

tort remedy was preempted for bad faith handling of an insurance claim because details 

of the agreement would be relevant to any allegation that the claim was handled in a 

dilatory manner). The Court stressed that interpretive uniformity and predictability 

require that labor contract disputes be resolved by reference to federal law, and that the 

8Defendants go to great length to argue that Davis could not have "reasonably relied" on 
unspecified statements attributed to unidentified Universal representatives because such 
statements were oral and contradict the language of the CBA. (Mot. at 12). However, Plaintiff 
properly points out that justifiable reliance involves the merits of the fraud claim; at the motion 
to dismiss stage, this Court does not address the merits of the parties' arguments and restricts 
itself to the question of whether the claims have been properly pleaded underthe Federal Rules. 
Thus, this Court cannot say that as a matter of law, Davis could not plead any set of facts which 
tend to demonstrate that he justifiably relied on Defendants' purported misrepresentations. 

12 
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meaning of a contract phrase or term be subject to uniform federal interpretation. tiLe 
l I ' 
'.' I 

see also Textile Workers v. Lincoln Mills, 353 U.S. 448, 456 (1957); Teamsters v. Lucas .. ::;. 
3 Flour Co., 369 U.S. 95 (1962). 

4 Notwithstanding the extensive authority on federal preemption in this field, 

5 Plaintiff contends that the resolution of his claim is distinguishable from the cases cited 

6 by Defendants because Plaintiff's claim does not require any interpretation of the CBA. 

7 Lingle v. Norge Div. of Magic Chef, Inc., 486 U.S. 399 (1988); Gregory v. SCIE, 317 F.3d 

8 1050,1052 (9th Gir. 2003) (citing Allis-Chalmers Corp., 471 U.S. at 220). Plaintiff 

9 correctly asserts that federal preemption in this field is limited to cases whose resolution 

10 is substantially dependent upon analysis of the terms of a collective bargaining 

11 agreement. Adams v. Pac. Bell Directory, No. 98-55060, 2000 U.S. App. LEXIS 6369, at 

12 *3-4 (9th Gir. Jan. 3, 2000). This case, however, falls outside this principle because 

13 resolution of the claim is bound up with the terms of the GBA and would require 

14 interpretation of its terms. 

15 In support of his Section 17200 claim, Plaintiff relies on a combination of oral 

16 statements and policies, and potentially ambiguous language in the CBA. For instance, 

17 Plaintiff alleges that only Director Singleton could terminate his employment. The 

18 language of the GBA, however, states that "[t]he Director may replace the First 

19 Assistant Director provided that such action does not adversely affect the budget of the 

20 motion picture. The Employer shall have the right for just cause to discharge a First 

21 Assistant Director ... " (Defs. Request for Judicial Notice, Ex. B [2002 Basic Agreement] 

22 at p. B 42 [§ 7-204] (emphasis added)). The first sentence is ambiguous as to whether 

23 the Director has the sole authority to replace the FAD, or whether that replacement 

24 power is nonexclusive. Additionally, the second sentence indicates that the "employer" 

25 may discharge the FAD for just cause, which suggests that the Director does not have 

26 the sole authority to terminate a FAD's employment. Thus, because Davis relies on the 

27 allegation that only Singleton could dismiss him, an interpretation of this language is 

28 necessary. 

13 
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1 Bloom v. Universal City Studios, Inc., 734 F. Supp. 1553, 1560 (C.D. Cal. 199.0), 
i~d i 

2 which addressed whether Section 301 of the LMRA preempts claims based on Sectlgn 
, '{1' 

3 17200, supports the Court's conclusion. In Bloom, an employee was terminated as,an 

4 assistant hair stylist on a television show. The employee argued that Section 301 did 

5 not preempt her claim because it was based on her reliance on an oral agreement with 

6 her supervisor, and that her tort claim did not require an analysis of the CBA. The court 

7 disagreed, granting summary judgment in the defendant's favor and holding that 

8 plaintiffs Section 17200 claim was preempted. kl The Court reasoned that plaintiffs 

9 Section 17200 claim rested entirely on defendant's conduct, and Section 301 preempts 

10 all of plaintiffs claims based on that conduct. kl at 1561. Otherwise, the court 

11 asserted, "plaintiff would be allowed to evade [Section] 301 's pre-emptive effects by 

12 reformulating her contract claim as a fraudulent business practices claim." kl In 

13 substance, Davis has done the same thing here. Davis contends that the terms and 

14 conditions of the CBA have been mOdified by oral statements made by Defendants, and 

15 that these statements provide the basis of his claim. LMRA preemption principles 

16 preclude him from pursuing such a claim. 

17 Likewise, the reasoning in Hubins v. Operating Eng'rs Local Union No.3, No. 

18 C-04-3091 (MMC), 2004 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 20376 (N.D. Cal. Sept. 29, 2004) supports 

19 the Court's conclusion. There, the plaintiff claimed that his union demoted him, 

20 rescinded a pay raise, and terminated his employment in retaliation for his refusal to 

21 make an election contribution. The plaintiff filed claims for violation of California Labor 

22 Code and Section 17200, among others. Though not an LMRA case, the court held that 

23 plaintiffs Section 17200 claim was preempted under the National Labor Relations Act 

24 ("NLRA"), and the court dismissed the claim. Although Hubins did not directly address 

25 the issue now before the Court, it is persuasive because it reiterated, in the context of a 

26 Section 17200 claim, the need to prevent states from setting standards of conduct 

27 inconsistent with the requirements of the NLRA and also to discourage states from 

28 

14 
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1 setting their own regulatory or judicial remedies for conduct prohibited by the Act. Id;~.at 
I if 
:::; ) 

2 31-32. ",: 

3 Hubins and Bloom teach that claims like Davis's Section 17200 claim necess~rily 
" .. 

4 rest on an interpretation of the CBA. Davis concedes that the employment agreement 

5 incorporates the lengthy, detailed CBA negotiat~d by the DGA on behalf of its members. 

6 That agreement mandates that employee grievances must be submitted to arbitration 

7 and that arbitration provides the employee's only remedy. (Defs. Request for Judicial 

8 Notice, Ex. B [2002 Basic Agreement) at p. B 30 [§ 2-601]) ("Arbitration hereunder shall 

9 be the exclusive remedy.'V Given that Davis's Section 17200 claim will necessarily 

10 involve an examination and interpretation of the CBA to determine whether the practices 

11 Defendants engaged in were fair and legal, LMRA preemption principles preclude 

12 Plaintiff from pursuing this Fourth Cause of Action. 

13 E. LEAVE TO AMEND GRANTED IN PART, DENIED IN PART 

14 Defendants urge the Court to deny Davis leave to amend because it would: (1) 

15 be futile; and (2) prejudice Defendants. The Court does not agree as to all of Davis's 

16 claims. 

17 1. The Legal Standard 

18 The Federal Rules have espoused a policy in favor of allowing parties to amend 

19 pleadings. Foman v. Davis, 371 U.S. 178, 181-82 (1962) (quoting Conley v. Gibson, 

20 355 U.S. 41, 48 (1957)) ("The Federal Rules reject the approach that pleading is a 

21 game of skill in which one misstep by counsel may be decisive to the outcome and 

22 accept the principle that the purpose of pleading is to facilitate a proper decision on the 

23 merits."). Thus, the Federal Rules declare that "leave [of court) shall be freely given 

24 when justice so requires." Fed. R. Civ. P. 15(a). 

25 

26 

27 

28 

. 
9Notably, Defendants point out that Davis alleges that Universal denied "him and others" certain 
benefits to which they were supposedly entitled pursuant to the employment agreement. 
(FACI1I55; Mot. at 16). This can only refer to the CBA, and implicitly acknowledges that an 
interpretation of the CBA is central to the claim. 

15 
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1 

2 

3 

When determining whether to grant leave to amend a complaint, the Court t~ : 
considers: (1) undue delay; (2) bad faith; (3) futility of amendment; and (4) prejudice to 

",' t ... • ~ 

the opposing party, Forsyth v, Humana, Inc., 114 F.3d 1467, 1482 (9th Cir. 1997),:~: 

4 (citation omitted). 

5 2. Analysis 

6 a. Breach of Contract Claim 

7 Granting Davis leave to amend would not be futile because the Court cannot say 

8 that Davis cannot cure the defects in the FACI. While the Court questions whether 

9 Davis can assert, in good faith, that this case falls within one of the three exceptions to 

10 the exhaustion requirement permitting him to bring a private claim for breach of the 

11 CBA, the Court cannot, on the record before it, foreclose him from that opportunity. 

12 Thus, granting leave to amend would not be futile. 

13 Moreover, granting Davis leave to amend will not unduly prejudice Defendants 

14 because they can stipulate to enter into revised timing deadlines for summary judgment 

15 and trial. Therefore, Defendants' motion to dismiss Davis's breach of contract claim is 

16 GRANTED with LEAVE TO AMEND. 

17 b. Fraud Claim 

18 The Court hereby GRANTS Defendants' motion to DISMISS Davis's fraud claim 

19 because Plaintiff failed to plead his claim with sufficient particularity. LEAVE TO 

20 AMEND is GRANTED except as to the alleged promise that Davis would be hired as 

21 FAD on Fast and Furious 2 for which LEAVE TO AMEND is DENIED, since Davis 

22 himself admits that he was hired as FAD for the film. 

23 c. Business and Professions Code Section 17200 Claim 

24 Because Davis's Section 17200 claim necessarily involves an examination and 

25 interpretation of the CBA to determine whether the practices Defendants engaged in 

26 were fair and legal, the Court hereby GRANTS Defendants' motion to dismiss Plaintiff's 

27 Fourth Cause of Action. Since it is preempted by federal law, LEAVE TO AMEND is 

28 DENIED and the Section 17200 claim is DISMISSED WITH PREJUDICE. 

16 
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IV. 

CONCLUSION 
r 

The Court hereby DISMISSES Plaintiff's breach of contract claim because,D~vis 

failed even to allege that he exhausted the remedies set forth in the parties' CBA and 

failed to set forth sufficient facts to plead that he can even bring a private breach of 

contract claim in this Court. 

Furthermore, the Court hereby DISMISSES Plaintiff's fraud claim, WITH 

PREJUDICE as to the alleged promise that Davis would be hired as FAD on Fast and 

Furious 2, and WITH LEAVE TO AMEND as to the. other two alleged 

misrepresentations, since they have not been pleaded with particularity, as required. 

Finally, the Court hereby DISMISSES WITH PREJUDICE Plaintiff's Business and 

Professions Code § 17200 claim because it is preempted by federal law. 

IT IS SO ORDERED. 

DATED: November 2,2005 
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